2009

Larry N. Long v. Ethics and Discipline Committee of the Utah Supreme Court : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Utah Supreme Court has original jurisdiction over attorney discipline pursuant to Article VIII, Section 4 of the Utah Constitution. *See* Utah Const. art. VIII, § 4 (“The Supreme Court by rule shall govern the practice of law, including admission to practice law and the conduct and discipline of persons admitted to practice law.”). Direct appeal of an informal order of the Ethics and Discipline Committee is provided by Supreme Court Rule of Professional Practice 14-510(f) (effective November 1, 2009). In the event Rule 14-510(f) is deemed inapplicable to this matter, review is sought as a Petition for Extraordinary Relief under Rule 65B of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 19 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure where “no other plain, speedy or adequate remedy is available.”¹

STATEMENT OF ISSUES, STANDARD OF REVIEW, AND SUPPORTING AUTHORITY

Petitioner Larry N. Long asserts the following issues on appeal:

I. The Ethics and Discipline Committee Failed to Articulate Findings of Fact Which Would Justify Its Conclusions of Law.

A. Standard of Review:

¹ On November 1, 2009, Rule of Professional Practice 14-510 was amended to provide for direct appeal to the Utah Supreme Court from informal proceedings before the Ethics and Discipline Committee. The Order of Discipline in each matter below was issued *after* the effective date of the amended Rule. However, proceedings were conducted *prior* to the effective date of the amended Rule. As set forth in Long’s Motion to Clarify Procedure for Review, deferred for plenary consideration, it is unclear whether the new direct appeal procedure is to apply to matters pending, or only to matters originating after the effective date of the amendment. Long asserts that Rule 14-510, as amended, applies to this matter.

“Judicial discipline and lawyer discipline in particular, are essentially original proceedings here. In the case of lawyer discipline, the authority to discipline lawyers rests entirely with this court and is delegated by our rules to the Utah State Bar for some functions, and to the district courts for others. . . . In both cases, they act under our original authority, and matters eventually brought to us for action come not as appeals, but by way of final confirmation or rejection of actions taken by our delegees.” *In re Anderson*, 2004 UT 7, ¶ 46, 82 P.3d 1334 (internal citations omitted).

B. Preservation:

Long preserved this issue by filing an Exception to the recommendation of discipline in each case, in accordance with Rule of Professional Practice 14-510(c). *See* Exceptions to Screening Panel’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations for Public Reprimand, Case No. 07-0497 (hereinafter “Shepard Exceptions Brief”), p.7-9; Exceptions to Screening Panel’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations for Public Reprimand, Case No. 08-0049 (hereinafter “Nelson Exceptions Brief”), p.7-9; Exceptions to Screening Panel’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations for Public Reprimand, Case No. 08-0080 (hereinafter “Henroid² Exceptions Brief”), p.7-11.³

² Because Judge Henroid did not to submit a verified, notarized complaint, Judge Henroid is not considered the complainant in OPC File No. 08-0080. Rather, the OPC is the official complainant. However, because Judge Henroid’s letter prompted the OPC’s investigation and is the origin of this matter, we refer to OPC File No. 08-0080 as the “Henroid matter” for clarity.

II. The Screening Panel’s Recommendation Was Not Based Upon Substantial Evidence.

A. Standard of Review:

“In reviewing cases involving attorney discipline, we ‘review the trial court’s findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard,’ but ‘reserve the right to draw different inferences from the facts than those drawn by the trial court.’” *In re Discipline of Crawley*, 2007 UT 44, ¶ 17, 164 P.3d 1232 (quoting *In re Discipline of Ince*, 957 P.2d 1233, 1236 (Utah 1998)); *see also In re Discipline of Schwenke*, 849 P.2d 573, 576 (Utah 1993) (stating that factual findings are sustained so long as they are supported by substantial evidence).

B. Preservation:

Long preserved this issue by filing an Exception to the recommendation of discipline in each case, in accordance with Rule of Professional Practice 14-510(c). *See* Shepard Exceptions Brief, p.4-7; Nelson Exceptions Brief, p.4-6; Henroid Exceptions Brief, p 4-7.

III. The Screening Panel Misinterpreted the Rules of Professional Conduct, Erroneously Finding Violations of Rules 1.5 (a), 3.1, 5.3(a), 5.5(a), and 8.4(a).

A. Standard of Review:

A court’s interpretation of the rules of professional conduct is reviewed for correctness. *In re Discipline of Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3, ¶ 12, 86 P. 3d 712; *Nemelka v.*

³ The record filed with the court was not consecutively paginated across all three OPC matters. Per discussions with the clerk of the court and by agreement of counsel, documents which may be found in the record compiled by the Screening Panel will be identified by OPC matter using the numbering system of the Screening Panel’s record (i.e. “Shepard R. 000187”). Documents which postdate the Screening Panel’s record will be identified by OPC matter and document name (i.e. “Nelson Exceptions Brief, p. 3”).

Ethics & Discipline Comm. of the Utah Supreme Court, 2009 UT 33, ¶ 9, 210 P.3d 525

(“We therefore afford no deference to a panel chair's interpretation of our rules.”).

B. Preservation:

Long preserved this issue by filing an Exception to the recommendation of discipline in each case, in accordance with Rule of Professional Practice 14-510(c). *See* Shepard Exceptions Brief, p.9-13; Nelson Exceptions Brief, p.9-21; Henroid Exceptions Brief, p.11-13.

IV. The Screening Panel’s Disciplinary Recommendations, Including Recommended Discipline for Violating Rules 7.1 and 7.5(d), Are Improper and Inconsistent.

A. Standard of Review:

In re Doncouse, 2004 UT 77, ¶ 10, 99 P.3d 837 (“It is our duty to make an independent determination as to the appropriate sanction to be imposed.”); *In re Discipline of Harding*, 2004 UT 100, ¶ 12, 104 P.3d 1220 (“In determining an appropriate sanction, this court is free to examine all relevant facts and circumstances and is under no obligation to defer to the conclusions of any other body.”).

B. Preservation:

Long preserved this issue by filing an Exception to the recommendation of discipline in each case, in accordance with Rule of Professional Practice 14-510(c). *See* Shepard Exceptions Brief, p.12-15; Nelson Exceptions Brief, p.12-13; Henroid Exceptions Brief, p.13-15.

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The following rules are fully set forth in the Addendum to Brief of Petitioner, submitted herewith:

Rule of Professional Practice 14-510(b)(7) (formerly 14-510(b)(5).

Rule of Professional Practice 14-510(f)(5).

Rule of Professional Practice 14-602(d).

Rule of Professional Practice 14-605(d).

Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(a).

Rule of Professional Conduct 3.1.

Rule of Professional Conduct 5.3(a).

Rule of Professional Conduct 5.5(a).

Rule of Professional Conduct 7.1.

Rule of Professional Conduct 7.5(d).

Rule of Professional Conduct 8.4(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This petition seeks review of and relief from an Order of Discipline: Admonition (OPC File No. 07-0497—Shepard) and an Order of Discipline: Public Reprimand (OPC File No. 08-0049—Nelson) issued by Respondent Ethics and Discipline Committee of the Utah Supreme Court (the “Committee”) on November 13, 2009, and an Order of Discipline: Public Reprimand (OPC File No. 08-0080—Henroid) issued by Respondent on November 24, 2009.

B. Course of the Proceedings

1. On October 3, 2007, the Office of Professional Conduct of the Utah State Bar (“OPC”) mailed to Long a Notice of Informal Complaint in OPC File No. 07-0497. (See Shepard R. 000065.) On September 9, 2008, OPC mailed to Long a Notice of Informal Complaint in OPC File No. 08-0049. (See Nelson R. 000066.) On March 4, 2008, OPC mailed to Long a Notice of Informal Complaint in OPC File No. 08-0080. (See Henroid R. 000038.)

2. Long timely responded to each Notice of Informal Complaint. (See Shepard R. 000070; Nelson R. 000078; Henroid R. 000053.) On February 19, 2009, a Screening Panel hearing was held on all three matters.⁴

3. On May 21, 2009, the Screening Panel issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation of Discipline: Admonition in OPC File No. 07-0497 (hereinafter “Shepard Recommendation”).

4. On July 2, 2009, the Screening Panel issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation of Discipline: Public Reprimand in OPC File No. 08-0049 (hereinafter “Nelson Recommendation”).

5. On June 10, 2009, the Screening Panel issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation of Discipline: Public Reprimand in OPC File No. 08-0080 (hereinafter “Henroid Recommendation”).

6. Long timely filed Exceptions to each of the Screening Panel Recommendations on or about July 1, 2009. After retaining new counsel and with

⁴ Concerned about the potential prejudicial effect of three disciplinary complaints being presented to the Screening Panel at one time, Long requested that separate hearings be scheduled. (Shepard R. 000239-45.) This request was denied. (Shepard R. 000232-38.)

permission from OPC, Long submitted new Exceptions in each matter on October 22, 2009.

7. A consolidated hearing on Exceptions before the Chair of the Ethics and Discipline Committee, Bruce Maak, was held October 28, 2009.

8. On November 6, 2009, Mr. Maak issued a Ruling on Exception to Screening Panel Recommendation of Discipline in OPC File Nos. 07-0497 and 08-0049 (hereinafter “Shepard Exceptions Ruling” and “Nelson Exceptions Ruling” respectively). The Ruling on Exception to Screening Panel Recommendation of Discipline in OPC File Nos. 08-0080 was issued November 17, 2009 (hereinafter “Henroid Exceptions Ruling”).

9. An Order of Discipline: Admonition in OPC File No. 07-0497 and an Order of Discipline: Public Reprimand in OPC File No. 08-0049 were issued by the Committee on November 13, 2009 (hereinafter “Shepard Order” and “Nelson Order” respectively). An Order of Discipline: Public Reprimand in OPC File No. 08-0080 was issued on November 24, 2009 (hereinafter “Henroid Order”).

10. On December 8, 2009, Long filed a Petition for Review or Petition for Extraordinary Relief for each Order of Discipline. Long also filed a Motion to Clarify Procedure for Review and a Motion to Consolidate for proposes of review before the Supreme Court. The Motion to Consolidate was granted on January 7, 2010. The Motion to Clarify was deferred for plenary consideration on January 19, 2010.

11. On December 22, 2009, Long filed a Motion for Stay for each matter, seeking to stay publication of any notice of disciplinary action against Long in the Utah Bar Journal. The Motions for Stay were denied on January 18, 2010.

C. Disposition at agency

Following exhaustion of internal review within the Committee, an Order of Discipline: Admonition was issued in the Shepard matter on November 13, 2009. An Order of Discipline: Public Reprimand was issued in the Nelson matter on November 13, 2009 and in the Henroid matter on November 24, 2009.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Shepard Complaint: OPC File No. 07-0497:

1. On October 3, 2007, OPC mailed to Long a Notice of Informal Complaint in OPC File No. 07-0497, arising from Long's representation of Steven Shepard. (*See* Shepard R. 000065.)

2. Long initially met with Shepard after regular business hours, accompanied Shepard to Pretrial Services and court the next morning, and prepared for and attended a subsequent hearing. (Shepard R. 000071-73, 000207-213.) At the initial consultation, Long discussed with Shepard the immediate and potential consequences of his legal problem, goals of representation, and terms of payment. (*See* Shepard R. 000070-71.)

3. Long reviewed the retainer agreement with Shepard in detail. Shepard initialed each paragraph and signed the agreement following the hearing the next morning. (Shepard R. 000196-97, 000209-10.) Shepard indicated that he did not believe he had hired Long, though he admitted to signing the retainer agreement. (Shepard R. 000197-98.) Long believed he had been retained by Shepard. (Shepard R. 000210.) At

the conclusion of the initial consultation, Shepard paid Long \$100 to secure his representation the following morning. (Shepard R. 000194.)

4. After being unable to come up with the money to pay Long's entire fee, Shepard testified that he contacted Long's office and told a secretary he had hired someone else. (Shepard R. 000198.) Later, Shepard received notice that he was being sued by a collection agent for Long's fee. (Shepard R. 000198-99.)

5. The retainer agreement specifies the scope of representation and indicates that Long's flat fee for services is considered earned once substantial services have been performed by Long. Shepard initialed alongside each paragraph of the agreement. (Shepard R. 000097-99.) Shepard also signed a Flat Fee Payment Arrangement & Promissory Note, (Shepard R. 000103-04), and a Representation Requirements document. (Shepard R. 000106-07.)

6. Long continued to work on Shepard's case, preparing for and attending another hearing a few weeks later. Upon arriving at the subsequent hearing, Long first became aware that Shepard had retained a different attorney. (Shepard R. 000211.) Shepard acknowledged at the hearing that Long attended the subsequent hearing, apparently unaware that he had been terminated. (Shepard R. 000204-05.)

7. Long spent an approximate total of 6 hours on Shepard's case. (Shepard R. 000213.)

8. According to Long's testimony, the collection action against Shepard was filed by Express Recovery after it received a copy of the signed retainer agreement from Long's office. After Shepard contacted Long's office and protested the lawsuit, Long

directed Express Recovery to cease their collection action. Shepard never paid Long anything beyond the initial \$100 for services provided, which included after-hours initial consultation with Shepard, preparation of a court filing due that same day, preparation that same evening for a hearing the following morning, assistance at Pretrial Services the next morning, and an appearance on behalf of Shepard at a hearing shortly thereafter which resulted in a positive result for Shepard. (Shepard R. 000194, 000200.)

9. The Screening Panel issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation of Discipline, recommending an Order of Discipline: Admonition for violations of Rules of Professional Conduct 1.5(a), regarding unreasonable fees; 3.1, regarding bringing an unmeritorious claim; 7.1 and 7.5(d), regarding use of a misleading firm name; and 8.4(a), misconduct. (*See* Shepard Recommendation, p.1.) A copy of the Shepard Recommendation is included in the Addendum hereto.

10. The Screening Panel also considered as a mitigating factor that Long did not actually collect the full flat fee from Shepard, but instead resolved the dispute by directing the collections company to drop its claim. (*See* Shepard Recommendation, p.5.)

11. In Exceptions proceedings, the Chair of the Committee, Bruce Maak, acknowledged that the Screening Panel's Findings of Fact do not enumerate the facts upon which the Screening Panel's decision was based. (*See* Shepard Exceptions Ruling, p.4 n.1.) Nevertheless, the Chair concluded that sufficient evidence did exist in the

record to sustain the Screening Panel's recommendation. (*See* Shepard Exceptions Ruling, pp.4-7.)⁵

B. Nelson Complaint: OPC File No. 08-0049:

12. On October 3, 2007, OPC mailed to Long a Notice of Informal Complaint in OPC File No. 07-0497, arising from Long's representation of David Merritt. (*See* Nelson R. 000065.) Gordon Nelson, Merritt's employer who arranged for Merritt's legal defense, is the actual complainant in this matter.

13. Nelson's complaint alleged that Nelson paid a \$750 retainer and signed a fee agreement arranging for Long's representation of Merritt. (*See* Nelson R. 000001.) Nelson alleged that Long failed to appear as agreed on Merritt's behalf, and failed to adequately represent Merritt. (*See* Nelson R. 000001-02.)

14. Nelson claimed that Long's employee, Joe Scheeler, assured Nelson that Long would represent Merritt. After a second missed hearing, Nelson claims that Scheeler said he would handle the matter himself. (*See* Nelson R. 000002.)

15. Long appeared at hearings on behalf of Merritt and also prepared various documents for Merritt's cases. (*See* Nelson R. 000129-210, 000231-236.) Scheeler was an employee of Long's firm who assisted with administrative tasks and client intake.

⁵ As discussed in Part I, *infra*, the Chair went to great lengths to muster scattered facts from the record and articulate a line of reasoning that the Screening Panel could have followed in order to arrive at its conclusions. However, it is important to note that the duty to state the basis of the Screening Panel's recommendation lies with the Screening Panel at the time the Panel makes its recommendation. *See* Rules of Professional Practice 14-510(b)(7), (9) (formerly 14-510(b)(5)(D), (E)).

Scheeler, pursuant to his employment agreement, was to comply with the Rules of Professional Conduct. (*See* Nelson R. 000112.)

16. Long was retained to represent Merritt in two criminal matters before the North Salt Lake Justice Court. Long appeared in these matters and later attempted to withdraw. When his motion to withdraw was denied, Long continued to represent Merritt until substituted by another attorney. (*See* Nelson R. 000129-210, 000231-236, 000251.) During the same time period, Merritt was also involved in criminal and civil matters before the Second and Third District Courts. Long was not engaged to represent Merritt in these matters. (*See* Nelson R. 000082-89.)

17. Nelson paid \$1,850 to Long's office to retain Long. Ultimately, Long's representation of Merritt was terminated. (*See* Nelson R. 000238-39.) Although Long believes he earned the money paid, all funds were later refunded to Merritt. (*See* Nelson R. 000127.)

18. At the Screening Panel hearing on this matter, substantial discussion centered around Long's 10-page employment agreement with Scheeler. (Unofficial Transcript of Nelson Screening Panel Hearing ("Nelson Transcript"), p.7.)⁶

⁶ Upon deciding to file exceptions to the Screening Panel's recommendations, Mr. Long obtained the official recording of the Screening Panel hearings and submitted the same to CitiCourt for transcription. CitiCourt made certified transcriptions of the Shepard and Henroid matter, which are found in the record. However, CitiCourt reported that the recording quality of the Nelson matter was too poor to make a substantial transcription. In an effort to recreate some record of the evidence against Mr. Long, administrative personnel in attorney Charles Gruber's office transcribed as much of the Nelson hearing as could be heard and understood from the recording. This unofficial transcript was submitted with Mr. Long's Exception to the Nelson Recommendation, and is found in the record.

19. The employment agreement with Scheeler specifically provided that Scheeler was to notify clients that he is not a lawyer and was to refrain from extending legal advice. (Nelson Transcript, pp.4-5.) Nelson acknowledged in his complaint that Long “told my wife and David that Joe did not have a license to practice law in any way.” (Nelson R. 000002.) Long primarily uses paralegals and non-lawyer assistants for client intake and screening, as well as for administrative support. (Nelson Transcript, p.3.) Clients were given a disclosure which indicated that non-lawyer assistants were not lawyers and could not give legal advice. (Nelson Transcript, p.3.)

20. Referencing the allegation that Scheeler appeared on behalf of clients, Long recounted that on one occasion, Long was delayed in getting to the courthouse for a hearing on Merritt’s behalf. Scheeler, who was present at the courthouse with Merritt, offered to “appear” at the hearing on behalf of Long. Long explicitly told Scheeler to inform the judge and the prosecutor that he was not a lawyer and explain Long’s delay. Scheeler did so and the court rescheduled the hearing for a new date. (Nelson Transcript, pp.7-8.) The relevant dockets do not indicate that Scheeler ever appeared before the court. (Nelson R. 000046-65, 000231-236.)

21. At one point, Long discovered Scheeler conducting an unauthorized mediation after hours and reaffirmed to Scheeler that such was unacceptable under the terms of their employment agreement. (Nelson Transcript, pp.4-5, 10.) Scheeler allegedly conducted a mediation without Long’s knowledge, and prepared a document memorializing the parties’ agreement. (Nelson Transcript, pp.5-6; Nelson R. 000002, 000025-30).

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