2009

Larry N. Long v. Ethics and Discipline Committee of the Utah Supreme Court : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Ethics and Discipline Committee ordered discipline against Petitioner Long in three underlying cases. Each matter was heard by a Screening Panel, which issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Recommendation of Discipline. Long filed an Exception in each case, which were heard by the Committee Chair. The Chair denied each Exception, and Long now seeks review by this Court.

As an initial matter, Long has failed to meet his obligation to marshal the record evidence before this Court, and the Court should affirm the Committee's Orders of Discipline. Regarding the merits of the arguments: the Screening Panel fulfilled its obligation under the Rules of Professional Practice to state the basis upon which it made its recommendations, based its recommendations upon substantial evidence, correctly interpreted the Rules of Professional Conduct, and correctly applied the Rules in each case.

ARGUMENT

I. Long Has Failed to Meet His Duty to Marshal The Evidence.

Because Long is challenging the Screening Panel's Findings of Fact in each case, the issues in this case present questions which are extremely fact-dependant. Long is required to marshal all record evidence that supports the findings he challenges on review. See Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. "To pass this threshold, parties protesting findings of fact must 'marshal all the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below.'" *United Park City Mines Co. v. Sticking Mayflower Mountain Fonds*, 2006 UT 35, ¶ 24, 140 P.3d 1200 (quoting *State v. Clark*, 2005 UT 75, ¶ 17, 124 P.3d 235). As this Court recently held, "[i]f the marshaling requirement is not met, we assume that the evidence supports the trial court's findings and may affirm on that basis alone." *Commercial Debenture Corporation v. Amenti, Inc.*, 2010 UT 10 (internal omissions omitted) (quoting *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 76, 100 P.3d 1177).

Long notes in his Brief that he is aware of the appellant's obligation to marshal all record evidence which supports the challenged finding. Long Br. at 29. He ostensibly endeavored to do this in the Brief's "Statement of Facts" section. That section, however, only contains certain facts which support the arguments he raised first on Exceptions, and now to this Court for review. In *United Park City Mines*, this Court instructed:

'[P]arties are required to remove [their] own prejudices and fully embrace the adversary's position'; [they] must play the 'devil's advocate.' In so doing, appellants must present the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court and not attempt to construe the evidence in a light most favorable to their case.... In sum, to properly marshal the evidence the challenging party must demonstrate

how the court found the facts from the evidence and then explain why those findings contradict the clear weight of the evidence.

2006 UT 35 at ¶ 26, citing *Chen*, 2004 UT at ¶ 78 (quoting *Harding v. Bell*, 2000 UT 108, ¶19, 57 P.3d 1093). When a party fails to fulfill its marshaling obligation they will face grim consequences, and the Court can rely on that failure to affirm the lower court's findings of fact. *United Park City Mines*, 2006 UT 35 at ¶ 27.

The essence of Long's argument on review is that the Screening Panel failed to articulate sufficient Findings of Fact which would support its Conclusions of Law and Recommendations of Discipline. It is not enough to state that the Findings, as written, fail to sufficiently enumerate every last detail of evidence upon which the Conclusions are based. Rather, to marshal the evidence on review, Long must delve into the record and demonstrate that there was not any evidence before the Panel which would have allowed it to reach the Conclusions of Law in the underlying cases. Long has failed to meet this burden in the "Statement of Facts" he presents, and this Court may properly affirm the Committee's Orders.

The record of evidence which was before the Panels, and is now before this Court, is voluminous. Despite Long's claim that "the record is devoid of facts which would support many of the challenged findings" and that he "cannot marshal evidence where no evidence exists," the record is replete with facts which support the Screening Panel's Recommendations. Long Br. at 29, fn. 8. Without conducting an analysis of each point in Long's "Statement of Facts", it should be sufficient to demonstrate by way of example that Long has failed to marshal the evidence before this Court.

In the Nelson Complaint, the Screening Panel found that Long violated Rules 5.3(a), 5.5(a) and 8.4(a). See Nelson Recommendation, p.1, Appellant's Addendum,

Exhibit F. These violations were based upon work Long's non-lawyer employee, Scheeler, conducted for Long's client, Merritt, and Long's contemporaneous knowledge of that work. Long asserts that Scheeler conducted "an unauthorized mediation after hours" and "allegedly conducted a mediation without Long's knowledge, and prepared a document memorializing the parties' agreement." Long Br. at 17, point 21. This understates the evidence in the record which establishes Long's knowledge of Scheeler's actions.

The record establishes that Nelson (Merritt's friend, who sought representation for Merritt) had his initial contacts with Scheeler in mid to late April, 2007. Nelson R. 000225. Scheeler prepared a Settlement Agreement which grew out of a mediation which occurred on June 1, 2007. Nelson R. 000025-30. Long received a letter from attorney Joseph Orifici dated May 2, 2007 which communicated that Orifici had been retained to represent Smith concerning issues with Long's client, Merritt. Nelson R. 000247. Long's fee agreement with Merritt is dated May 23, 2007, weeks after Orifici's letter and his receipt of Nelson's payments. Nelson R. 000031-32. After the mediation Scheeler conducted, Long wrote a letter to Michael Nielsen, the prosecutor in Merritt's protective order violation case, dated June 11, 2007. Nelson R. 000141. In that letter, Long stated, "On June 1, 2007, David [Merritt] and the alleged victim VOLUNTARILY COMPLETED a mediation with Joseph Scheeler and they are currently working on a settlement and division of their property." *Id.*

This sequence of events demonstrates that Long knew that his office was in some respect representing Merritt before his own fee agreement indicates the representation began. Orifici's letter predates the fee agreement by 21 days. Further,

and more significantly, Long's letter to Nielsen establishes that Long was aware of Scheeler's "mediation" and efforts to agree on a settlement and division of property, which was set forth in the Settlement Agreement Scheeler prepared. There is no evidence in the record that Long, the only attorney in his office at the time, was assisting Merritt in negotiations related to a settlement or property division, yet he informed the prosecutor that the parties were doing just that. There is substantial evidence in the record to demonstrate that Long knew Scheeler negotiated a property division and/or prepared the Settlement Agreement as of June 2007, but Scheeler remained employed by Long until he quit in November 2007. The evidence in the record establishes that Scheeler's conduct was improper, and that Long not only knew of such conduct, but attempted to rely upon it for his client's benefit in the protective order violation proceeding. Long's "Statement of Facts" fails to address this substantial evidence in the record, yet these facts directly underpin the Rule violations the Screening Panel found in the Nelson complaint.

Another example of Long's failure to marshal the evidence can be found in the Shepard complaint. Shepard consulted with Long on October 24, 2006 and Long appeared with him at a brief hearing the next morning. Shepard did initial and sign fee agreement paperwork indicating a flat fee of \$6,600, provided that Long represent him through a pretrial conference or entry of a plea. Shepard R. 000097-99. Just two days after meeting with Long, Shepard decided to retain another attorney and informed Long that he was terminated. Shepard R. 000198. Long apparently failed to receive that message, and appeared at Shepard's next hearing, where he learned that Shepard had hired someone else. Shepard R. 000211. At that point, Shepard had paid Long \$100,

and Long had appeared at a brief hearing, provided a free consultation, and mistakenly appeared at a follow-up hearing.

According to Long's "Statement of Facts," "[l]ater, Shepard received notice that he was being sued by a collection agent for Long's fee." Long Br. at 13, point 4. Long states that "[a]fter Shepard contacted Long's office and protested the lawsuit, Long directed Express Recovery to cease their collection action." *Id.* at point 8. As in the Nelson complaint, this factual presentation seriously understates the facts and evidence in the record pertaining to Long's collection efforts.

Six months after Shepard informed Long that he no longer needed representation, Long caused a debt collection case to be filed against his former client for the full amount of his flat fee agreement, plus costs and attorney's fees, for a total attempted recovery of \$7,775.34. Shepard R. 000037-38. By the terms of Long's own flat fee agreement, he had not performed sufficient work to generate such a fee, as he testified before the Screening Panel. Shepard R. 000213.

Long states that after "Shepard contacted [his] office and protested the lawsuit, [he] directed Express Recovery to cease their collection action." Long Br. at 13, point 8. That "fact" is not consistent with Long's testimony to the Screening Panel. When Shepard learned that he was being sued for recovery of the flat fee, he contacted a lawyer. That lawyer contacted Express Recovery to negotiate a settlement. According to Long's testimony, he told Express Recovery how much time he had spent working on the case, and Express Recovery told him they would negotiate for a \$1,500 settlement, instead of the full flat fee plus interest and costs. Shepard R. 000216. Around that same time period, Shepard contacted the OPC about Long's actions, and Long retained

attorney Charles Gruber to represent him for the Bar complaint. Upon Gruber's advice, Long decided to cease the collections case to "buy peace with [the] man." Shepard R. 000216-217.

Again, Long understates the evidence and facts in the record which support the Findings and Conclusions reached by the Screening Panel. In the Shepard case, the Panel found that Long violated, among other Rules, Rules 1.5(a) (fees) and 3.1 (meritorious claims). The facts, as stated above, regarding Long's attempts to collect a fee, which even he thought was unreasonable, by causing a meritless lawsuit to be filed against his former client, are glossed over in Long's "Statement of Facts." These are the very facts Long needs to marshal to fulfill his obligation under Rule 24(a)(9).

As the courts have done in *United Park City Mines and Commercial Debenture Corporation v. Amenti, Inc.*, *supra*, and as Utah courts have done in numerous other cases, this Court should assume that all the lower findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record. See, e.g., *Utah Med. Prods. v. Searcy*, 958 P.2d 228, 233 (Utah 1998).

II. The Findings of Fact Articulated by The Ethics and Discipline Committee Were Sufficient to Justify Its Conclusions of Law.

When the Long Screening Panel hearings were held, Rule 14-510(b)(5) of the Supreme Court Rules of Discipline and Disability controlled a Screening Panel's recommendation of an admonition or public reprimand.⁶ The Rule states, in

⁶ When the November 1, 2009 amendments became effective Rules 14-510(b)(5)(D), (E) were consolidated into one section, which is now Rule 14-510(b)(7). The relevant language of the Rule is unchanged, and is set out verbatim in Appellant's Addendum. As previously stated, the OPC believes the pre-amended Rules apply to this proceeding and the citations in this section are to the Rules prior to the 2009 amendments.

relevant part, that a “screening panel recommendation shall be in writing and shall state the substance and nature of the informal complaint and defenses and the basis upon which the screening panel has concluded, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the respondent should” be admonished or publicly reprimanded. Rules of Professional Practice 14-510(b)(5)(D), (E) (amended to Rule 14-510(b)(7)).

To support his argument that the Panel failed to sufficiently detail Findings of Fact to support its disciplinary Recommendations, Long points to several civil and criminal cases which consider the sufficiency of a district court’s Findings of Fact. This analysis misunderstands the attorney discipline system, and the very nature of the disciplinary rules adopted by this Court. Essentially, Long attempts to place a false burden upon the Screening Panels by comparing them to district courts. Some background into the disciplinary rules is helpful in demonstrating why this is a mistake.

The Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability were adopted in 1993, significantly changing the existing system of discipline to employ the district court as the fact finder for formal complaints. See Summary, Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability. The Advisory Committee on the Rules of Professional Conduct concluded that this model was preferable “in terms of economy, efficiency, public access, fairness and familiarity. Discipline ordered by a district court would be appealable to the Supreme Court without prior review by the Bar Commission.” See *id.*

The new rules maintained the use of the Ethics and Discipline Committee for imposing private discipline, but provided for review of private discipline by the Chair of the Ethics and Discipline Committee, rather than the Board of Bar Commissioners. See *id.*; see also *In re Babilis*, 951 P.2d 207, 211 (Utah 1997).

In 2003, the Court expanded the powers of the Ethics and Discipline Committee to permit Screening Panels to recommend imposing public reprimands, which in turn are entered by the Committee's Chair. See Rule 14-510(b)(5)(E), Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability; see also Amendment Notes, Rule 14-510, *id.* The rule permitting a respondent to submit an exception to the Screening Panel's recommendation of private admonition, and to have a hearing if requested, was amended to include public reprimands. See Rule 14-510(c), Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability.

It should be noted that this Court seems to have the view that a closer level of scrutiny by the Court is warranted in cases where an attorney's license might be subject to restrictive discipline such as a suspension or disbarment. See *In re Johnson*, 48 P.3d 881, 886-887 (Utah 2001), where the Court states: "Because the private practice of law cannot easily be stopped and started again, unless there is a substantial threat of irreparable harm to the public, a disbarred lawyer should be entitled to a stay of judgment pending appeal to this court where the final authority for discipline rests." The OPC submits that because neither admonitions nor public reprimands restrict an attorney's license to practice, the Court by its rule change acknowledged that the due process provided by Rule 14-510 of the Rules was sufficient for the imposition of the lesser non-restrictive sanctions.

Additionally, this expansion of the Screening Panel's authority acknowledged the fact that "[u]nder the current sanctions standards the factual basis for a private admonition and a public reprimand is essentially the same with the difference being the level of harm to the client, the legal profession, or the administration of justice." Petition

to Amend the Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability, *In re Utah State Bar*, Feb. 25, 2002, at 19, a copy of which is provided in the Addendum. As outlined further by that Petition:

The change will allow the expedited resolution of similar cases because it will eliminate the need to file formal complaints in the district court on those cases that are only slightly above the standards for an admonition. . . . As a practical matter, screening panels rarely, if at all, vote a matter “formal” (i.e., find probable cause to send a case to the district court) unless they believe the violation warrants suspension or disbarment. This is because the time and expense required at the district court level is considerable, and it is often difficult to justify the imposition of a “mere” public reprimand.

Id.

The disciplinary system adopted by this Court recognizes that there is a difference in the due process requirements for various levels of attorney discipline. More serious discipline, which restricts the attorney's right to practice, is handled through one of the district courts, which have enhanced responsibilities to enumerate more detailed Findings of Fact. Had Long's case been a formal disciplinary action under Rule 14-511, his arguments regarding the sufficiency of the Findings of Fact may have needed more attention. That is, however, not the case before the Court.

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